Making Everything Easier!"



FOR DUMALES A Wiley Brand

Learn to:

- Use R for data analysis and processing
- Write functions and scripts for repeatable analysis
- Create high-quality charts and graphics
- Perform statistical analysis and build models

Andrie de Vries Joris Meys



by Andrie de Vries and Joris Meys



R For Dummies®, 2nd Edition

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2015 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Media and software compilation copyright © 2015 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved.

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

Trademarks: Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and may not be used without written permission. All trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit www.wiley.com/techsupport.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media such as a CD or DVD that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015941928

ISBN 978-1-119-05580-8 (pbk); ISBN 978-1-119-05583-9 (epub); 978-1-119-05585-3 (epdf)

Manufactured in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Table of Contents

.

About This Book	
Changes in the Second Edition	
Conventions Used in This Book	
What You're Not to Read	
Foolish Assumptions	
How This Book Is Organized	
Part I: Getting Started with R Programming	
Part II: Getting Down to Work in R	
Part III: Coding in R	
Part IV: Making the Data Talk	
Part V: Working with Graphics	
Part VI: The Part of Tens	
Icons Used in This Book	
Beyond the Book	
Where to Go from Here	

	11
Recognizing the Benefits of Using R	12
It comes as free, open-source code	12
It runs anywhere	13
It supports extensions	13
It provides an engaged community	13
It connects with other languages	14
Looking At Some of the Unique Features of R	15
Performing multiple calculations with vectors	15
Processing more than just statistics	16
Running code without a compiler	16
Chapter 2: Exploring R	
Working with a Code Editor	20
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui	20 21
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui Dressing up with RStudio	20 21 23
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui Dressing up with RStudio Starting Your First R Session	20 21 23 25
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui Dressing up with RStudio Starting Your First R Session Saying hello to the world	20 21 23 25 25
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui Dressing up with RStudio Starting Your First R Session Saying hello to the world Doing simple math	20 21 23 25 25 25 26
Working with a Code Editor Exploring RGui Dressing up with RStudio Starting Your First R Session Saying hello to the world Doing simple math Using vectors	20 21 23 25 25 25 26 26 26

R For Dummies _____

Storing and calculating values	27
Talking back to the user	
Sourcing a Script	29
Echoing your work	
Navigating the Environment	32
Manipulating the content of the environment	32
Saving your work	33
Retrieving your work	34
Chapter 3: The Fundamentals of R	35
Using the Full Power of Functions	35
Vectorizing your functions	
Putting the argument in a function	37
Making history	
Keeping Your Code Readable	40
Following naming conventions	40
Structuring your code	43
Adding comments	45
Getting from Base R to More	45
Finding packages	45
Installing packages	16
Loading and unloading packages	

Observation A. Ostations Observation in the Astichansentia	F4
Chapter 4: Getting Started with Arithmetic	51
Working with Numbers, Infinity, and Missing Values	51
Doing basic arithmetic	52
Using mathematical functions	54
Calculating whole vectors	57
To infinity and beyond	58
Organizing Data in Vectors	60
Discovering the properties of vectors	61
Creating vectors	63
Combining vectors	64
Repeating vectors	64
Getting Values in and out of Vectors	65
Understanding indexing in R	65
Extracting values from a vector	66
Changing values in a vector	67
Working with Logical Vectors	
Comparing values	69
Using logical vectors as indices	70

iv

Combining logical statements	71
Summarizing logical vectors	72
Powering Up Your Math	73
Using arithmetic vector operations	73
Recycling arguments	76
Chapter 5: Getting Started with Reading and Writing	79
Using Character Vectors for Text Data	79
Assigning a value to a character vector	80
Creating a character vector with more than one element	
Extracting a subset of a vector	
Naming the values in your vectors	
Manipulating Text	
String theory: Combining and splitting strings	
Sorting text	
Finding text inside text	
Substituting text	91
Revving up with regular expressions	92
Factoring in Factors	94
Creating a factor	95
Converting a factor	96
Looking at levels	
Distinguishing data types	
	100
Working with ordered factors	100
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R	100
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates	100 103 104
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats	100 103 104 106
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 106 107
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 106 107 109
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 106 107 109 109
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 109
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 104 106 107 109 109 109 109 110
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 110 113
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions Adding a Second Dimension	100 103 104 104 106 107 109 109 109 110 111 113 113
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 114
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions Adding a Second Dimension Discovering a new dimension Combining vectors into a matrix	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 114 117
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions Adding a Second Dimension Discovering a new dimension Combining vectors into a matrix Using the Indices	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 113 113 113
Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions Adding a Second Dimension Combining vectors into a matrix Using the Indices Extracting values from a matrix	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 113 118 118
Working with ordered factors	100 104 104 106 107 109 109 109 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 113 113 118 118 120
Working with ordered factors	100 103 104 104 106 107 109 111 111 111 111 113 113 113 118 1120 1120 1120 1120 1121 1121 1121 1121 1121 1121 1121
 Working with ordered factors Chapter 6: Going on a Date with R Working with Dates Presenting Dates in Different Formats Adding Time Information to Dates Formatting Dates and Times Performing Operations on Dates and Times Addition and subtraction Comparison of dates Extraction Chapter 7: Working in More Dimensions Adding a Second Dimension Combining vectors into a matrix Using the Indices Extracting values from a matrix Replacing values in a matrix Naming Matrix Rows and Columns Changing the row and column names 	100 103 104 106 107 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 110 111 113 113 113 113 114 118 118 120 121 121

R For Dummies _____

Calculating with Matrices	123
Using standard operations with matrices	124
Calculating row and column summaries	125
Doing matrix arithmetic	126
Adding More Dimensions	127
Creating an array	128
Using dimensions to extract values	129
Combining Different Types of Values in a Data Frame	130
Creating a data frame from a matrix	130
Creating a data frame from scratch	132
Naming variables and observations	133
Manipulating Values in a Data Frame	134
Extracting variables, observations, and values	135
Adding observations to a data frame	136
Adding variables to a data frame	139
Combining Different Objects in a List	140
Creating a list	141
Extracting components from lists	142
Changing the components in lists	144
Reading the output of str() for lists	146
Seeing the forest through the trees	148

Part III: Coding in R..... 149

Chapter 8: Putting the Fun in Functions	151
Moving from Scripts to Functions	151
Making the script	152
Transforming the script	153
Using the function	154
Reducing the number of lines	155
Using Arguments the Smart Way	157
Adding more arguments	157
Conjuring tricks with dots	159
Using functions as arguments	161
Coping with Scoping	163
Crossing the borders	164
Dispatching to a Method	165
Finding the methods behind the function	166
Doing it yourself	168
Chapter 9: Controlling the Logical Flow	171
Making Choices with if Statements	172
Doing Something Else with an ifelse Statement	174

_ Table of Contents

	Vectorizing Choices	176
	Looking at the problem	176
	Choosing based on a logical vector	176
	Making Multiple Choices	178
	Chaining ifelse statements	178
	Switching between possibilities	180
	Looping Through Values	181
	Constructing a for loop	181
	Calculating values in a for loop	182
	Looping without Loops: Meeting the Apply Family	184
	Looking at the family features	185
	Meeting three of the members	185
	Applying functions on rows and columns	186
	Applying functions to listlike objects	188
Cha	ntor 10. Dobugging Vour Codo	102
Cila	pler IO: Debugging Your Code	192
	Knowing What to Look For	193
	Reading Errors and Warnings	194
	Reading error messages	194
	Caring about warnings (or not)	195
	Going Bug Hunting	197
	Calculating the logit	197
	Knowing where an error comes from	197
	Looking inside a function	198
	Generating Your Own Messages	202
	Creating errors	203
	Creating warnings	203
	Recognizing the Mistakes You're Sure to Make	204
	Starting with the wrong data	204
	Having your data in the wrong format	205
Cha	nter 11: Getting Heln	209
····	Finding Information in the D Holn Files	200
	When you know exactly what you're looking for	209
	When you don't know exactly what you're looking for	210 911
	Searching the Web for Help with R	211 919
	Cetting Involved in the R Community	212
	Discussing R on Stack Overflow and Stack Exchange	213
	Using the R mailing lists	214
	Tweeting about R	215
	Making a Minimal Reproducible Example	215
	Creating sample data with random values	215
	Producing minimal code	217
	Providing the necessary information	217
	r rowning the necessary mornation	

Part IV: Making the Data Talk	219
Chapter 12: Getting Data into and out of R	221
Getting Data into R	221
Entering data in the R text editor	
Using the Clipboard to copy and paste	
Reading data in CSV files	
Reading data from Excel	
Working with other data types	
Getting Your Data out of R	
Working with Files and Folders	233
Understanding the working directory	233
Manipulating files	234
Chapter 13: Manipulating and Processing Data	239
Deciding on the Most Appropriate Data Structure	239
Creating Subsets of Your Data	241
Understanding the three subset operators	241
Understanding the five ways of specifying the subset	242
Subsetting data frames	242
Adding Calculated Fields to Data	247
Doing arithmetic on columns of a data frame	247
Using with and transform to improve code readability	248
Creating subgroups or bins of data	249
Combining and Merging Data Sets	251
Creating sample data to illustrate merging	252
Using the merge() function	253
Working with lookup tables	255
Sorting and Ordering Data	257
Sorting vectors	257
Sorting data frames	258
Traversing Your Data with the Apply Functions	
Using the apply() function to summarize arrays	261
Using lapply() and sapply() to traverse a list	
or data frame	
Using tapply() to create tabular summaries	
Getting to Know the Formula Interface	
Whipping Your Data into Shape	
Understanding data in long and wide formats	
Getting started with the reshape2 package	
Melting data to long format	
Casting data to wide format	271

hapter 14: Summarizing Data	
Starting with the Right Data	
Using factors or numeric data	
Counting unique values	
Preparing the data	
Describing Continuous Variables	
Talking about the center of your data	
Describing the variation	
Checking the quantiles	
Describing Categories	
Counting appearances	
Calculating proportions	
Finding the center	
Describing Distributions	
Plotting histograms	
Using frequencies or densities	
Describing Multiple Variables	
Summarizing a complete dataset	
Plotting quantiles for subgroups	
Tracking correlations	
Working with Tables	
Creating a two-way table	
ç ,	
Converting tables to a data frame	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions napter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions napter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots	
Converting tables to a data frame Looking at margins and proportions napter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportionsapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions	295 296
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results	295 296 299 300 300 301 302 304 305 305 305 305 305 308 309 309 310 310
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results Working with Models	295 296 299 300 301 302 301 302 304 305 305 305 305 305 305 309 309 310 312 312 313
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results Working with Models Analyzing variances	295 296 299 300 301 302 304 305 305 305 305 305 305 309 309 310 312 313
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results Working with Models Analyzing variances Evaluating the differences	295 296 299 300 301 302 304 305 305 305 305 305 305 309 309 310 312 313 313 315
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results Working with Models Analyzing variances Evaluating the differences Modeling linear relations	295 296 299 300 301 302 304 305 305 305 305 305 309 309 309 310 312 313 313 315 318
Converting tables to a data frameLooking at margins and proportions hapter 15: Testing Differences and Relations Taking a Closer Look at Distributions Observing beavers Testing normality graphically Using quantile plots Testing normality in a formal way Comparing Two Samples Testing differences Comparing paired data Testing Counts and Proportions Checking out proportions Analyzing tables Extracting test results Working with Models Analyzing variances Evaluating the differences Modeling linear models	295 296 299

t V: Working with Graphics	325
Chapter 16: Using Base Graphics	
Creating Different Types of Plots	
Getting an overview of plot	
Adding points and lines to a plot	
Different plot types	
Controlling Plot Options and Arguments	
Adding titles and axis labels	
Changing plot options	
Putting multiple plots on a single page	
Saving Graphics to Image Files	
Chapter 17: Creating Faceted Graphics with Lattice	
Creating a Lattice Plot	
Loading the lattice package	
Making a lattice scatterplot	
Adding trend lines	
Changing Plot Options	
Adding titles and labels	
Changing the font size of titles and labels	
Using themes to modify plot options	
Plotting Different Types	
Making a bar chart	
Making a box-and-whisker plot	
Plotting Data in Groups	
Using data in tall format	
Adding a know	
Audilig a Key	
Assigning a lattice plot to an object	
Printing a lattice plot to all object	
Saving a lattice plot to file	
Chapter 18: Looking At ggplot2 Graphics	
Installing and Loading ggplot2	
Looking At Lavers	
Using Geoms and Stats	
Defining what data to use	
Mapping data to plot aesthetics	
Getting geoms	
Sussing Stats	
Adding Facets, Scales, and Options	
Adding facets	
Changing options	
Getting More Information	

Would've Done in Microsoft Excel	
Adding Row and Column Totals	•••••
Formatting Numbers	
Sorting Data	
Making Choices with If	•••••
Calculating Conditional Totals	•••••
Finding Unique or Duplicated Values	•••••
Working with Lookup Tables	•••••
Working with Pivot Tables	•••••
Using the Goal Seek and Solver	
Chapter 20: Ten Tips on Working with Packages	
Poking Around the Nooks and Crannies of CRAN	
Finding Interesting Packages	
Installing Packages	
Loading Packages	
Reading the Package Manual and Vignette	
Updating Packages	
Forging Ahead with R-Forge	••••••
Getting packages from github	••••••
Reading the R Manual	••••••
Appendix A: Installing R and RStudio	
Installing and Configuring R	
Installing R	
Configuring R	
Installing and Configuring RStudio	
Installing RStudio	
Configuring RStudio	
Appendix B: The rfordummies Package	
Using reordummies	

XII R For Dummies _____

Introduction

Programming language R quickly and easily.

We can't guarantee that you'll be a guru if you read this book, but you should be able to

- ✓ Perform data analysis by using a variety of powerful tools.
- ✓ Use the power of R to do statistical analysis and data-processing tasks.
- ✓ Appreciate the beauty of using vector-based operations (rather than loops) to do speedy calculations.
- ✓ Appreciate the meaning of the following line of code:

knowledge <- apply(theory, 1, sum)</pre>

- Know how to find, download, and use code that has been contributed to R by its very active community of developers.
- Know where to find extra help and resources to take your R coding skills to the next level.
- Create beautiful graphs and visualizations of your data.

About This Book

R For Dummies is an introduction to the statistical programming language known as R. We start by introducing the interface and work our way from the very basic concepts of the language through more sophisticated data manipulation and analysis.

We illustrate every step with easy-to-follow examples. This book contains numerous code snippets, several write-it-yourself functions you can use later on, and complete analysis scripts. All these are for you to try out yourself.

We don't attempt to give a technical description of how R is programmed internally, but we do focus as much on the why as on the how. R has many features that may seem surprising at first, so we believe it's important to explain both how you should talk to R, and how the R engine interprets what you say. After reading this book, you should be able to manipulate your data in the form you want and understand how to use functions we *didn't* cover in the book (as well as the ones we do cover).

This book is a reference. You don't have to read it from beginning to end. Instead, you can use the table of contents and index to find the information you need. We cross-reference other chapters where you can find more information.

Changes in the Second Edition

Since the publication of the first edition, R has kept evolving and improving. To keep the book accurate, we updated the code to reflect any changes in the latest version of R (version 3.2.0). With the feedback from readers, students, and colleagues we could rework some sections to clarify issues and correct inaccuracies. For example, we modified the code to use double quotes instead of single quotes when using text strings. We also refer to the fundamental units of lists as components, rather than elements.

The new rfordummies package contains code examples in the book. Read all about it in Appendix B.

R and **RStudio**

R For Dummies can be used with any operating system that R runs on. Whether you use Mac, Linux, or Windows, this book will get you on your way with R.

R is more a programming language than an application. When you download R, you automatically download a console application that's suitable for your operating system. However, this application has only basic functionality, and it differs to some extent from one operating system to the next. RStudio is a cross-platform application, also known as an Integrated Development Environment (IDE) with some very neat features to support R. In this book, we don't assume you use any specific console application. However, RStudio provides a common user interface across the major operating systems. For this reason, we use RStudio to demonstrate some of the concepts rather than any specific operating-system version of R.

Conventions Used in This Book

Code snippets appear like this example, where we simulate 1 million throws of two six-sided dice:

Each line of R code in this example is preceded by one of two symbols:

- >: The prompt symbol, >, is not part of your code, and you should not type this when you try the code yourself.
- ✓ +: The continuation symbol, +, indicates that this line of code still belongs to the previous line of code. In fact, you don't have to break a line of code into two, but we do this frequently, because it improves the readability of code and helps it fit into the pages of a book.

Lines that start without either the prompt or the continuation symbol are output produced by R. In this case, you get the total number of throws where the dice added up to the numbers 2 through 12. For example, out of 1 million throws of the dice, on 28,007 occasions the numbers on the dice added to 2.

You can copy these code snippets and run them in R, but you have to type them exactly as shown. There are only three exceptions:

- ✓ Don't type the prompt symbol, >.
- ✓ Don't type the continuation symbol, +.
- ✓ Where you put spaces or tabs isn't critical, as long as it isn't in the middle of a keyword. Pay attention to new lines, though.

Instructions to type code into the R console has the > symbol to the left:

> print("Hello world!")

4

If you type this into a console and press Enter, R responds with:

```
[1] "Hello world!"
```

For convenience, we collapse these two events into a single block, like this:

```
> print("Hello world!")
[1] "Hello world!"
```

Functions, arguments, and other R keywords appear in monofont. For example, to create a plot, you use the plot() function. Function names are followed by parentheses — for example, plot(). We don't add arguments to the function names mentioned in the text, unless it's really important.

On some occasions we talk about menu commands, such as File Save. This just means that you open the File menu and choose the Save option.

What You're Not to Read

You can use this book however works best for you, but if you're pressed for time (or just not interested in the nitty-gritty details), you can safely skip anything marked with a Technical Stuff icon. You also can skip sidebars (text in gray boxes); they contain interesting information, but nothing critical to your understanding of the subject at hand.

Foolish Assumptions

This book makes the following assumptions about you and your computer:

- ✓ You know your way around a computer. You know how to download and install software. You know how to find information on the Internet and you have Internet access.
- ✓ You're not necessarily a programmer. If you are a programmer, and you're used to coding in other languages, you may want to read the notes marked by the Technical Stuff icon — there, we fill you in on how R is similar to, or different from, other common languages.
- You're not a statistician, but you understand the very basics of statistics. *R For Dummies* isn't a statistics book, although we do show you how to do some basic statistics using R. If you want to understand the statistical stuff in more depth, we recommend *Statistics For Dummies*, 2nd Edition, by Deborah J. Rumsey, PhD (Wiley).
- ✓ You want to explore new stuff. You like to solve problems and aren't afraid of trying things out in the R console.

How This Book Is Organized

The book is organized in six parts. Here's what each of the six parts covers.

Part I: Getting Started with R Programming

In this part, you write your first script. You use the powerful concept of vectors to make simultaneous calculations on many variables at once. You work with the R workspace (in other words, how to create, modify, or remove variables). You find out how to save your work and retrieve and modify script files that you wrote in previous sessions. We also introduce some fundamentals of R (for example, how to install packages).

Part II: Getting Down to Work in R

In this part, we fill you in on the three R's: reading, 'riting, and 'rithmetic — in other words, working with text and numbers (and dates for good measure). You also get to use the very important data structures of *lists* and *data frames*.

Part III: Coding in R

R is a programming language, so you need to know how to write and understand functions. In this part, we show you how to do this, as well as how to control the logic flow of your scripts by making choices using *if* statements, as well as looping through your code to perform repetitive actions. We explain how to make sense of and deal with warnings and errors that you may experience in your code. Finally, we show you some tools to debug any issues that you may experience.

Part IV: Making the Data Talk

In this part, we introduce the different data structures that you can use in R, such as lists and data frames. You find out how to get your data in and out of R (for example, by reading data from files or the Clipboard). You also see how to interact with other applications, such as Microsoft Excel.

Then you discover how easy it is to do some advanced data reshaping and manipulation in R. We show you how to select a subset of your data and how to sort and order it. We explain how to merge different datasets based on

columns they may have in common. Finally, we show you a very powerful generic strategy of splitting and combining data and applying functions over subsets of your data. When you understand this strategy, you can use it over and over again to do sophisticated data analyses in only a few small steps.

After reading this part, you'll know how to describe and summarize your variables and data using R. You'll be able to do some classical tests (for example, calculating a t-test). And you'll know how to use random numbers to simulate some distributions.

Finally, we show you some of the basics of using linear models (for example, linear regression and analysis of variance). We also show you how to use R to predict the values of new data using models that you've fitted to your data.

Part V: Working with Graphics

They say that a picture is worth a thousand words. This is certainly the case when you want to share your results with other people. In this part, you discover how to create basic and more sophisticated plots to visualize your data. We move on from bar charts and line charts, and show you how to present cuts of your data using facets.

Part VI: The Part of Tens

In this part, we show you how to do ten things in R that you probably use Microsoft Excel for at the moment (for example, how to do the equivalent of pivot tables and lookup tables). We also give you ten tips for working with packages that are not part of base R.

Icons Used in This Book

As you read this book, you'll find little pictures in the margins. These pictures, or *icons*, mark certain types of text:



When you see the Tip icon, you can be sure to find a way to do something more easily or quickly.

You don't have to memorize this book, but the Remember icon points out some useful things that you really should remember. Usually this indicates a design pattern or idiom that you'll encounter in more than one chapter.



When you see the Warning icon, listen up. It points out something you definitely don't want to do. Although it's really unlikely that using R will cause something disastrous to happen, we use the Warning icon to alert you if something is bound to lead to confusion.

The Technical Stuff icon indicates technical information you can merrily skip over. We do our best to make this information as interesting and relevant as possible, but if you're short on time or you just want the information you absolutely *need* to know, you can move on by.

Beyond the Book

R For Dummies includes the following goodies online for easy download:

✓ Cheat Sheet: You can find the Cheat Sheet for this book here:

www.dummies.com/cheatsheet/r

Extras: We provide a few extra articles here:

www.dummies.com/extras/r

Example code: We provide the example code for the book here:

```
www.dummies.com/extras/r
```

If we have updates to the content of the book, look here for it:

www.dummies.com/extras/r

Where to Go from Here

There's only one way to learn R: Use it! In this book, we try to make you familiar with the usage of R, but you'll have to sit down at your PC and start playing around with it yourself. Crack the book open so the pages don't flip by themselves, and start hitting the keyboard!

Part I Getting Started with R Programming





Visit www.dummies.com for great Dummies content online.

In this part . . .

- Introducing R programming concepts.
- Creating your first script.
- Making clear, legible code.
- Visit www.dummies.com for great Dummies content online.

Chapter 1

Introducing R: The Big Picture

.

In This Chapter

- ▶ Discovering the benefits of R
- ▶ Identifying some programming concepts that make R special

With an estimated worldwide user base of more than 2 million people, the R language has rapidly grown and extended since its origin as an academic demonstration language in the 1990s.

Some people would argue — and we think they're right — that R is much more than a statistical programming language. It's also

- \checkmark A very powerful tool for all kinds of data processing and manipulation
- A community of programmers, users, academics, and practitioners
- A tool that makes all kinds of publication-quality graphics and data visualizations
- ✓ A collection of freely distributed add-on packages
- \checkmark A versatile toolbox for extensive automation of your work

In this chapter, we fill you in on the benefits of R, as well as its unique features and quirks.



You can download R at www.r-project.org. This website also provides more information on R and links to the online manuals, mailing lists, conferences, and publications.

Tracing the history of R

Ross Ihaka and Robert Gentleman developed R as a free software environment for their teaching classes when they were colleagues at the University of Auckland in New Zealand. Because they were both familiar with S, a programming language for statistics, it seemed natural to use similar syntax in their own work. After Ihaka and Gentleman announced their software on the S-news mailing list, several people became interested and started to collaborate with them, notably Martin Mächler.

Currently, a group of 21 people has rights to modify the central archive of source code (http://www.r-project.org/ contributors.html). This group is referred to as the R Core Team. In addition, many other people have contributed new code and bug fixes to the project.

Here are some milestone dates in the development of R:

- ✓ Early 1990s: The development of R began.
- August 1993: The software was announced on the S-news mailing list. Since then, a set of active R mailing lists has been created. The web page at www.r-project. org/mail.html provides descriptions

of these lists and instructions for subscribing. (For more information, turn to "It provides an engaged community," later in this chapter.)

- ✓ June 1995: After some persuasive arguments by Martin Mächler (among others) to make the code available as "free software," the code was made available under the Free Software Foundation's GNU General Public License (GPL), Version 2.
- Mid-1997: The initial R Development Core Team was formed (although, at the time, it was simply known as the core group).
- February 2000: The first version of R, version 1.0.0, was released.
- October 2004: Release of R version 2.0.0.
- ✓ April 2013: Release of R version 3.0.0.
- April 2015: Release of R-3.2.0 (the version used in this book).

Ross lhaka wrote a comprehensive overview of the development of R. The web page http:// cran.r-project.org/doc/html/ interface98-paper/paper.html provides a fascinating history.

Recognizing the Benefits of Using R

Of the many attractive benefits of R, a few stand out: It's actively maintained, it has good connectivity to various types of data and other systems, and it's versatile enough to solve problems in many domains. Possibly best of all, it's available for free, in more than one sense of the word.

It comes as free, open-source code

R is available under an open-source license, which means that anyone can download and modify the code. This freedom is often referred to as "free as

in speech." R is also available free of charge — a second kind of freedom, sometimes referred to as "free as in beer." In practical terms, this means that you can download and use R free of charge.

As a result of this freedom, many excellent programmers have contributed improvements and fixes to the R code. For this reason, R is very stable and reliable.



Any freedom also has associated obligations. In the case of R, these obligations are described in the conditions of the license under which it is released: GNU General Public License (GPL), Version 2. The full text of the license is available at www.r-project.org/COPYING. It's important to stress that the GPL does not pertain to your usage of R. There are no obligations for using the software — the obligations just apply to redistribution. In short, if you change *and* redistribute the R source code, you have to make those changes available for anybody else to use.

It runs anywhere

The R Core Team has put a lot of effort into making R available for different types of hardware and software. This means that R is available for Windows, Unix systems (such as Linux), and the Mac.

It supports extensions

R itself is a powerful language that performs a wide variety of functions, such as data manipulation, statistical modeling, and graphics. One really big advantage of R, however, is its extensibility. Developers can easily write their own software and distribute it in the form of add-on packages. Because of the relative ease of creating and using these packages, literally thousands of packages exist. In fact, many new (and not-so-new) statistical methods are published with an R package attached.

It provides an engaged community

The R user base keeps growing. Many people who use R eventually start helping new users and advocating the use of R in their workplaces and professional circles. Sometimes they also become active on

- The R mailing lists (http://www.r-project.org/mail.html
- ✓ Question-and-answer (Q&A) websites, such as
 - StackOverflow, a programming Q&A website (www.stackoverflow.com/questions/tagged/r)

• CrossValidated, a statistics Q&A website (http://stats. stackexchange.com/questions/tagged/r)

In addition to these mailing lists and Q&A websites, R users may

- Blog actively (www.r-bloggers.com).
- Participate in social networks such as Twitter (www.twitter.com/ search/rstats).
- ✓ Attend regional and international R conferences.

See Chapter 11 for more information on R communities.

It connects with other languages

As more and more people moved to R for their analyses, they started trying to incorporate R in their previous workflows. This led to a whole set of packages for linking R to file systems, databases, and other applications. Many of these packages have since been incorporated into the base installation of R.

For example, the R package foreign (http://cran.r-project.org/ web/packages/foreign/index.html) forms part of the *recommended* packages of R and enables you to read data from the statistical packages SPSS, SAS, Stata, and others (see Chapter 12).

Several add-on packages exist to connect R to database systems, such as

- RODBC, to read from databases using the Open Database Connectivity
 protocol (ODBC) (http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/
 RODBC/index.html)
- ROracle, to read Oracle data bases (http://cran.r-project.org/ web/packages/ROracle/index.html).



Initially, most of R was based on Fortran and C. Code from these two languages easily could be called from within R. As the community grew, C++, Java, Python, and other popular programming languages got more and more connected with R.

As more data analysts started using R, the developers of commercial data software no longer could ignore the new kid on the block. Many of the big commercial packages have add-ons to connect with R. Notably, both IBM's

SPSS and SAS Institute's SAS allow you to move data and graphics between the two packages, and also call R functions directly from within these packages.

Other third-party developers also have contributed to better connectivity between different data analysis tools. For example, Statconn developed RExcel, an Excel add-on that allows users to work with R from within Excel (http://www.statconn.com/products.html).

Looking At Some of the Unique Features of R

R is more than just a domain-specific programming language aimed at data analysis. It has some unique features that make it very powerful, the most important one arguably being the notion of *vectors*. These vectors allow you to perform sometimes complex operations on a set of values in a single command.

Performing multiple calculations with vectors

R is a vector-based language. You can think of a *vector* as a row or column of numbers or text. The list of numbers $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$, for example, could be a vector. Unlike most other programming languages, R allows you to apply functions to the whole vector in a single operation without the need for an explicit loop.

It is time to illustrate vectors with some real R code. First, assign the values 1:5 to a vector called x:

> x <- 1:5 > x [1] 1 2 3 4 5

Next, add the value 2 to each element in the vector x:

> x + 2 [1] 3 4 5 6 7 You can also add one vector to another. To add the values 6:10 elementwise to x, you do the following:

> x + 6:10 [1] 7 9 11 13 15

To do this in most other programming language would require an explicit loop to run through each value of x. However, R is designed to perform many operations in a single step. This functionality is one of the features that make R so useful — and powerful — for data analysis.

We introduce the concept of vectors in Chapter 2 and expand on vectors and vectorization in much more depth in Chapter 4.

Processing more than just statistics

R was developed by statisticians to make statistical data analysis easier. This heritage continues, making R a very powerful tool for performing virtually any statistical computation.

As R started to expand away from its origins in statistics, many people who would describe themselves as programmers rather than statisticians have become involved with R. The result is that R is now eminently suitable for a wide variety of nonstatistical tasks, including data processing, graphical visualization, and analysis of all sorts. R is being used in the fields of finance, natural language processing, genetics, biology, and market research, to name just a few.



R is *Turing complete*, which means that you can use R alone to program anything you want. (Not every task is easy to program in R, though.)

In this book, we assume that you want to find out about R programming, not statistics, although we provide an introduction to statistics with R in Part IV.

Running code without a compiler

R is an *interpreted language*, which means that — contrary to compiled languages like C and Java — you don't need a compiler to first create a program from your code before you can use it. R interprets the code you provide directly and converts it into lower-level calls to pre-compiled code/functions.

In practice, it means that you simply write your code and send it to R, and the code runs, which makes the development cycle easy. This ease of